## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-1272

LOWER COURT CASE NO. 98-12089

ROBERT RIMMER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LINDA McDERMOTT Florida Bar No. 0102857 Special Assistant CCRC-S McCLAIN & McDERMOTT, P.A. 141 N.E. 30<sup>th</sup> Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (850)322-2172F (954)564-5412

CELESTE BACCHI Florida Bar No. 0688983 Assistant CCRC-S OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3rd Ave., Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

# STATEMENT OF FACTS

# A. THE TRIAL

At approximately 12:00 p.m., on May 2, 1998, a robbery-homicide occurred at the Audio Logic, in Wilton Manors. Before leaving, the perpetrators shot and killed Bradley Krause and Aaron Knight. Witnesses Joe Moore, Kimberly Burke Davis, her toddler daughter and Luis Rosario were left physically unharmed.

Moore, Davis and Rosario all had a similar account of what occurred at the Audio Logic: At approximately 12:00 p.m.

Rosario, was grabbed from behind and told to lie down inside the bay area of the store (R. 767). Someone then came up to Rosario and taped his hands behind his back with duct tape (R. 772).

Moore was walking out of the bay area of the Audio Logic when a black male with a gun in his waistband approached him and told him to go back inside the bay area and lie down on the floor (R. 879-80). Moore complied and lay on the floor with his face down (<u>Id</u>.). Moore's hands were taped together behind his back by a black male whose face he never saw (R. 885). Moore's wallet and cell phone were taken from him (R. 886).

Davis was sitting in the waiting area around noon when she noticed a vehicle pull in near the front of the store (R. 792). The vehicle was a Kia Sephia. A black male exited the vehicle and entered the front door of the store (R. 793). Once inside,

the man kneeled down and looked in the display case (<u>Id</u>.).

Davis' daughter walked over to the man who took her hand and walked her back to her mother (<u>Id</u>.). Davis recalled the man walking toward the bay area and then did not see him again (R. 796). Davis identified Kevin Parker as the man who exited the Kia Sephia and entered the Audio Logic (R. 795).

A few minutes later another black man approached Davis and told her that her boyfriend called her, so she went into the bay area (R. 797). Davis identified Rimmer as the man who approached her (R. 799). Davis sat down and saw the same individual as before in the storeroom and moving boxes (R. 803). She also saw another individual moving boxes (Id.).

While Rosario, Moore and Davis were sitting and/or laying on the ground, cars were moved inside the bay area and a Ford Probe was loaded with stereo equipment (R. 774; 804; 888-90). Rosario and Moore heard a conversation about the prices of items being moved into the vehicle and one of the perpetrators ask an employee of the store if there were any guns in the store (R. 774-5; 886).

Also, Davis saw the perpetrator she identified as Rimmer with a gun. Both Davis and Moore testified that the perpetrator kneeled down next to Knight and asked what kind of gun it was (R. 806; 894). He also asked Knight about any surveillance equipment and the key to the cash register (R. 807-8; 891). Knight gave him the key to the cash register (R. 808). Davis also saw him

move her vehicle (R. 837).

Rosario and Moore then heard a car start and begin to leave, but then it was driven back into the bay area (R. 776; 895). The perpetrator exited the car and asked one of the employees of the store if "he knew him" (R. 777; 895-6). Even though the employee said "no", Rosario heard a gunshot (<u>Id</u>.). Moore saw the employee shot in the head (R. 896). Likewise, the shooter approached Davis and told her to lie down because he did not "want this to get on you." (R. 809). She then saw Knight shot.<sup>3</sup>

At this point, Moore jumped up, but the shooter told him to get on the ground (R. 812; 897).

Then the perpetrator walked over to the other employee and shot Krause (R. 778; 812). The gunman then told the remaining victims to "have a nice day" (R. 779; 812; 898). The shooter entered the Ford Probe and drove away (R. 813; 898).

Rosario described the shooter as a black male, 6'2" tall and wearing a baseball cap pulled down almost to his nose (R. 768-9; 783). Despite the fact that Rosario believed he could identify the shooter, he was unable to identify anyone from the photo or live line-up as the perpetrator (R. 780-1; 783).

Moore said that the shooter, who he later identified as

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  Knight died instantly (R. 1114). The cause of death was a gunshot wound to the head (R. 1108).

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  Krause lost consciousness instantly (R. 1114). The cause of death was a gunshot wound to the head (R. 1113).

Rimmer, was not wearing glasses during the crimes (R. 902). He also described the shooter as 5'7" - 5'9" tall, 150-160 lbs. with reddish brown skin and a hat (R. 903; 907). Moore described the Probe as having peeling tint on the windows (R. 907).

Davis described the shooter, who she later identified as Rimmer, as a black male, 5'8" - 5'9" tall, 175 lbs., wearing a baseball cap pulled down a little bit to his eyes with the bill of the cap at a straight angle downward (R. 797-8; 834; 838). She did not recall the shooter wearing eyeglasses (R. 833), and she was not sure if he had any facial hair (R. 834). Davis also described the Probe as having alloy wheels (R. 836).

As the events unfolded over the next week, Rimmer became a suspect in the robbery-homicides that occurred on May 2, 1998.

On May 4, 1998, Davis met with a sketch artist (R. 814).

After the sketch was completed, Moore was shown the sketch (R. 900). He was satisfied with it.

Michael Dixon, owner of the Audio Logic, was faxed a copy of the composite sketch (R. 629). Dixon did not identify anyone from the sketch (R. 680), but faxed it to other business owners (R. 629). Shortly thereafter, John Ercolano, believed that he could identify the individual depicted by the sketch (R. 1072).

Ercolcano believed that the sketch resembled Rimmer. He had met Rimmer in February, 1998, when he (Rimmer) came into his

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$  On May 10, 1998, Rimmer was 6'2", 190-200 lbs (R. 1252). At the time of the live line-up, Rimmer had lost weight (Id.).

store about some problems he was having with his car stereo (R. 1073; 1080). Rimmer complained about the installation completed by the Audio Logic employees (R. 1076).

After assisting with the composite sketch and based on the information from Ercolano, Davis was shown a photo line-up by Detective Lewis (<u>Id</u>.). When Davis looked at the photos Det.

Lewis told her to pick out the person who most resembled the shooter (R. 843). She chose two individuals from the line-up. The first photo she chose was not Rimmer (R. 845). However, because Det. Lewis told her that Moore had selected Rimmer, she then chose him. At trial Davis explained that even then, she "wasn't saying these are the guys. From what I can remember, they look like the person that most fits the description out of all the pictures he showed me." (R. 845).

 $<sup>^6</sup>$  Based on Ercolano's statements, Dixon reviewed his records and determined that on December 12, 1997, Rimmer had some stereo equipment installed in his Oldsmobile at the Audio Logic in Wilton Manors (R. 632-6). Dixon then recalled that he had met Rimmer on a few occasions, the first time in November, 1997, at the Audio Logic in Davie, Rimmer requested a stereo system be installed in his Oldsmobile (R. 640). However, due to his volume of business, Dixon could not accommodate Rimmer (R. 642). Rimmer returned after Thanksgiving, but Dixon still did not have time to install the stereo system so he advised Rimmer to take his vehicle to the Wilton Manors store ( $\underline{\text{Id}}$ .). Sometime after December 12<sup>th</sup>, Rimmer returned to the Davie store due to a malfunction in the stereo system (R. 643).

 $<sup>^7</sup>$  Davis testified that "four of the photographs didn't look anything like the characteristics of the guy I thought committed the crime." (R. 844).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Trial counsel attempted to suppress the identification of Davis (R. 2176-8). The trial court denied the motion (R. 2194).

When Moore was shown the photo line-up, he selected Rimmer's photo as being the shooter (R. 902).

Det. Lewis, told Moore that he and Davis selected the same photo (R. 905). He also told Moore that Rimmer had been arrested and was in possession of Moore's wallet (R. 908). Later, Davis and Moore selected Rimmer from a live line-up (R. 816, 902).

On May 10, 1998, law enforcement attempted to locate Rimmer and search his vehicle. Rimmer engaged the police in a chase (R. 985-91). During the chase, Officer Kelley observed Rimmer throw objects from his vehicle (R. 993). The objects included a wallet with Moore's license inside (R. 1008), and a firearm (R. 1014). Upon exiting his vehicle, Rimmer ran and was apprehended (R. 992). Rimmer was searched and had \$896.00 (R. 1305).

Rimmer's vehicle was searched. Based on the lease agreement seized from Rimmer's vehicle, the police learned that on May 7, 1998, he rented a storage space (R. 972; 1198). When law enforcement searched the storage space they found several items of stereo equipment (R. 1199-1200). Dixon identified the items as merchandise from the Audio Logic (R. 649-62).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Trial counsel attempted to suppress the identification of Moore (R. 2176-8). The trial court denied the motion (R. 2194).

Trial counsel attempted to suppress the organizer, lease agreement and items found at the storage unit (R. 7). Trial counsel argued that the organizer was beyond the scope of the search warrant of Rimmer's vehicle and that all of the items found at the storage unit were fruit of the poisonous tree (R. 10). The trial court denied the motion (R. 11).

Rimmer was indicted for the crimes that occurred at the Audio Logic on May 2, 1998 (R. 2089-92).

During the initial investigation of Rimmer, law enforcement also received information that the composite sketch of the individual seen by Davis in the waiting area of the Audio Logic was Kevin Parker. Based on this information, Det. Lewis sought to interview Parker. In mid-May, Parker's girlfriend, Jenette Potter-Mallard, learned that the police were looking for Parker (R. 953). She encouraged Parker to call Det. Lewis, which he did (Id.). When interviewed by the police, she told them that she had met Rimmer through Parker (R. 931). She had seen Parker and Rimmer together a few times (R. 957). She recalled seeing Parker and Rimmer talking once outside of her apartment (R. 936). Potter-Mallard did not know when the conversation occurred, although it may have been in the beginning of May, 1998 (R. 935).

Sometime after May 2, 1998, Parker told Potter-Mallard that he had been at the Audio Logic where he saw a little girl and her mom in the waiting area (R. 941). Parker also said that he walked to the back of the store, saw some people and left (R. 950). Parker denied being involved in the crimes (R. 962).

Over the next several months, Deidre Bucknor, an employee of Broward Sheriff's Office compared numerous fingerprints that were obtained from the crime scene and from the items recovered from the storage unit (R. 1126). She identified some fingerprints to Rimmer and Parker (R. 1129; 1134). However, numerous

fingerprints were unidentified, including fingerprints from Davis' vehicle (R. 1140-1), the door leading to the office at Audio Logic (R. 1141), the front door of the Audio Logic store (R. 1143), the cash register (R. 1143), the shelf in the storage area (R. 1144), the duct tape used to bind the victims (R. 1144-45), and other equipment and boxes (R. 1141, 1145-8). Indeed, at least fifty prints were of value but unidentified (Id.).

Rimmer and Parker were tried together in January, 1999.<sup>11</sup>
Rimmer's trial counsel explained to the jury in his opening statement: "[T]he defense in this case is Robert Rimmer did not commit those crimes and he was not present at the Audio Logic store on May 2<sup>nd</sup>, 1998" (R. 549).

Trial counsel also presented evidence that Rimmer wore glasses all of the time because he was "legally blind without correction (R. 1322-3; see also 1344-5). Rimmer's eyesight was 20/400 without correction (R. 1325-6). Rimmer had purchased a new pair of glasses on February 23, 1998 (R. 1311). Also, counsel presented the testimony from the booking officer of Rimmer's prior arrest in March, 1998, that he was wearing glasses (R. 1290). And, that on the evening he was arrested for the crimes at hand, he was wearing glasses (R. 1298).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Prior to Rimmer's capital trial, trial counsel made a motion to sever Rimmer's case from Parker's (R. 3-7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In rebuttal the State presented the testimony of two investigating officers who said that Rimmer was not wearing glasses on March 25, 1998 (R. 1395; 1403).

Trial counsel also presented testimony that Rimmer drove an Oldsmobile and his wife drove a blueish-purple Ford Probe (R. 1345). Rimmer's wife testified that on the day of the crimes, Rimmer took his son fishing at around 8:00 or 9:00 a.m. in the Oldsmobile and returned around 3:30 p.m. (R. 1355). Meanwhile, she used the Probe to go to the laundromat (R. 1346-7). On cross-examination, the State questioned Mrs. Rimmer about her husband's income. The State showed her payment stubs that indicated he made just over \$100.00 every other week (R. 1368).

In rebuttal to the evidence of Rimmer's eyesight, the State presented Ofc. Kelley to discuss his own eyesight, which was 20/300 (R. 1404). Ofc. Kelley described what he could see without his glasses and told the jury that he had driven previously without his glasses and not gotten into any accidents (R. 1404-5). Finally, over the defense's objection, Ofc. Kelley assisted in a demonstration where the trial prosecutor lay on the floor and instructed Officer Kelley to point his finger at his (the trial prosecutor's) head (R. 1406). 14

During the State's closing argument, the trial prosecutor emphasized the importance of the jury instruction regarding

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$  In rebuttal the State presented the testimony of two investigating officers who said that Rimmer said he was driving the Probe on March 25, 1998 (R. 1396; 1403).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> This Court found that the trial court erred in permitting Ofc. Kelley to testify in rebuttal. Rimmer v. State, 825 So. 2d 304, 321 (Fla. 2002). However, the Court divided, four to three, as to whether the error caused Mr. Rimmer harm. Id. at 322, 334.

principals (R. 1492). Meanwhile, trial counsel emphasized that being in possession of the stolen property days after the crime did not mean that Rimmer was at the Audio Logic on May 2, 1998, and guilty of murder (R. 1516).

During deliberations, the jury had numerous requests for evidence concerning the identification of Mr. Rimmer by the eyewitnesses, including the composite sketch, photo line-up, a read back of Davis' testimony, the fingerprint evidence photos of the live line-up, Davis' sworn statement<sup>15</sup>, the store display and Rimmer's day planner (R. 1616). The jury also asked a question indicating some confusion about the instruction regarding principals (R. 1715).

On January 28, 1999, the jury found Mr. Rimmer and Parker quilty as charged (R. 2283-93).

Trial counsel again moved for severance for the penalty phase (R. 1804). The trial court denied the motion, but decided to utilize a procedure where Mr. Rimmer's penalty phase proceeded first and then Parker's penalty phase would be heard (R. 1808-9).

The State presented victim impact testimony, as well as introducing testimony that Rimmer had previously been convicted of two prior violent felonies.

In mitigation, trial counsel presented the following:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The jury was instructed that Davis' sworn statement was not evidence (R. 1641). During cross examination of Davis, trial counsel impeached her several times with her prior sworn statement. See R. 834, 836, 849, 853, 856-9.

Rimmer's father, Louis Rimmer told the jury that he and Mr.

Rimmer's mother had fought often when he was young (R. 1870).

The couple divorced and the children remained with their father (R. 1868). However, a few years later, Mrs. Rimmer took her children to North Carolina without permission (R. 1868-9). She told her children that their father had died (R. 1869). A few months later, Louis Rimmer found his children and took them back to Ohio (R. 1870). Eventually, Louis Rimmer sent his children to live with their mother in Florida (R. 1872).

The jury also learned that Mr. Rimmer had four children, one of whom was not his biological child, but that he had raised since she was an infant (R. 1873; 1936-7). Mr. Rimmer spent time with his children; he took them to the park or fishing, and often helped with their homework (R. 1939; 1942-3). He also joined the PTA at their school (R. 1939). Mr. Rimmer was also a good friend and community member according to Henry Morris (R. 1881-6). He attended church and worked with kids in gangs (R. 1882-3).

Dr. Martha Jacobson testified that Mr. Rimmer suffered from a schizophrenic disorder with some mood disorder and depression (R. 1904). Dr. Jacobson believed that Mr. Rimmer's condition was chronic (R. 1901). She formed her conclusions based on some psychological testing and an interview with Mr. Rimmer (R. 1893-4). The results of Mr. Rimmer's testing demonstrated a bizarre thought process, paranoia and mania (R. 1896-7; 1899). She explained that Mr. Rimmer's results showed that he was not in

touch with reality and that he hallucinated (R. 1898).

On cross examination, the State elicited that Dr. Jacobson had no evidence of Mr. Rimmer having mental problems in the past (R. 1910-1). And, though Dr. Jacobson informed the jury that Mr. Rimmer told her that he had seen a mental health professional while previously incarcerated, she admitted that she was never provided records to confirm that information (R. 1914-5). So, during the State's closing argument, the State referred to Dr. Jacobson's testimony as "mental mumbo-jumbo" (R. 1951). And, the State emphasized that there was no factual basis to support Dr. Jacobson's opinions (<u>Id</u>.). Instead, the State told the jury that Mr. Rimmer had anti-social personality disorder (R. 1959).

The jury recommended the death penalty for the shooting of both Mr. Knight and Mr. Krause by a vote of 9 - 3 (R. 2320).

A <u>Spencer</u> hearing was held in March, 1999, at which trial counsel presented testimony from Dr. Michael Walczak and Mr. Rimmer's mother. Dr. Walczak confirmed Dr. Jacobson's diagnosis (R. 2011), and also told the trial court that Mr. Rimmer suffered an abusive childhood (R. 2013).

Lilly Rimmer, Mr. Rimmer's mother, explained that she had taken her children from their father but she presented a somewhat different picture of Louis Rimmer, telling the trial court that he was not involved with his children and refused to let her have contact with them (R. 2049-51).

On March 19, 1999, the trial court sentenced Mr. Rimmer to

death finding six aggravating factors had been established: (1) the murders were committed by a person convicted of a felony and under a sentence of imprisonment; (2) the defendant was previously convicted of another felony involving use or threat of violence; (3) the murders were committed while the defendant was engaged in a robbery and kidnaping; (4) the murders were committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing lawful arrest; (5) the murders were especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC)<sup>16</sup>; and (6) the murders were cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP) (R. 2383-99). The trial court found no statutory mitigating circumstances and gave the nonstatutory mitigation little weight (Id.).

### B. THE POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

1. Preliminary Matters.

From the outset, the State interfered with Mr. Rimmer's public records process. The State failed to notify law enforcement agencies that the mandate had issued so that the agencies would submit public records to the Records Repository (SPC-R. 1046). The State's error caused Mr. Rimmer delay in seeking additional records and thus, the circuit court required additional information in order for him to obtain records.

Prior to the evidentiary hearing, the State requested that the circuit court require Mr. Rimmer to proffer the testimony of

 $<sup>^{16}</sup>$  This Court found that the evidence did not support the HAC aggravator. Rimmer v. State, 825 So. 2d 304, 327 (Fla. 2002).

his witnesses so that the court could determine the "relevancy" of the testimony (SPC-R. 1817-9; 2SPC-R. 879-921). Specifically, the State argued that Mr. Rimmer should not be allowed to present testimony from witnesses Rosario, Moore, Burke and Parker (<u>Id</u>.). Mr. Rimmer responded to the State's motion pointing out that there was no authority for such a request (SPC-R. 1820-3).

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