IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-1272

ROBERT RIMMER

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

evidence been disclosed the jury would have reached a different verdict. See Strickler, 527 U.S. at 289, 119 S.Ct. 1936. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. See Way, 760 So.2d at 913; see also Strickler, 527 U.S. at 290, 119 S.Ct. 1936. The remedy of retrial for the State's suppression of evidence favorable to the defense is available when "the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." Strickler, 527 U.S. at 290, 119 S.Ct. 1936 (quoting Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 435, 115 S.Ct. 1555, 131 L.Ed.2d 490 (1995)). Giving deference to the trial court on questions of fact, this Court reviews de novo the application of the law and independently reviews the cumulative effect of the suppressed evidence. See Mordenti, 894 So.2d at 169; Way, 760 So.2d at 913.

<u>Pagan</u>, 2009 WL 3126337, 3. Additionally, this Court noted agreed the where the defense is aware of the exculpatory information from a different source, the information is not suppressed. <u>Pagan</u>, 2009 WL 3126337, 9 (citing <u>Occhicone v.</u> <u>State</u>, 768 So.2d 1037, 1042 (Fla. 2000) (holding "[a]lthough the 'due diligence' requirement is absent from the Supreme Court's most recent formulation of the <u>Brady</u> test, it continues to follow that a <u>Brady</u> claim cannot stand if a defendant knew of the evidence allegedly withheld or had possession of it, simply because the evidence cannot then be found to have been withheld from the defendant")). <u>See Way v. State</u>, 760 So.2d 903, 911-12 (Fla. 2000) (noting that evidence is not "suppressed" where the defendant was aware of the exculpatory information).

After noting the items Rimmer claimed were suppressed, and

the law attendant to Brady claims, the court concluded:

Garfield testified that he Mr. did not have the documents included in Defense Exhibit 43 [documents prepared by FDLE]. According to Mr. Garfield, some of the documents relate only to the codefendant and/or with have provided him would not any useful information that he did not already have (EH 671-685). According to Mr. Garfield, some of the information in the FDLE documents was provided to the FDLE by WMPD, and not the other way around (EH 681). Peter Magrino, the trial prosecutor also testified that the FDLE reports were a synopsis of the Wilton Manors reports and that all the FDLE did was assist in compiling a photo lineup (EH 778-789).

The Court heard testimony at the hearing concerning a West Palm Beach Police Department report of an investigation they conducted of a "chop shop" and a It was learned that Langman suspect Greq Langman. went to a vocational school attended by the Defendant and that the gun used in the crimes was connected to the "chop shop." (EH 686-688) Mr. Garfield testified that he was aware of this information because it was in a report from WMPD (EH 686). contained Mr. the Palm Garfield also stated that West Beach is not Information something he would have used because it would have associated his client with other crimes and the last thing he wanted to do was establish that his client had the murder weapon prior to the day he was arrested and to associate with "a gang of thieves in West Palm Beach." (EH 686-688).

There was also testimony, at the evidentiary hearing, about a Plantation Police Department Investigation of a murder at a muffler shop. Mr. Garfield testified that he does not believe he could have used this information because the crimes are not similar enough to each other, to get into evidence, and that jury's expected you to prove it was the other person (689-692). Concerning the reports that two Wilton Manors Police Officers observed Ford Probes, the same kind of car used in the crimes, Mr. Garfield stated that this information would not have been any use to him because there was nothing to follow-up on (EH 669).

•••

The Court agrees with the analysis of this claim presented by the State, in its written closing argument, that Defendant has not established a Brady The evidence from the hearing does not violation. establish that any reports, not provided to the defense, contained favorable evidence, or did not contain information that the defense already had. This Court finds that the Defendant was not prejudiced having received any the bv not of reports. Additionally, this Court finds no deficiency on the part of trial counsel related to the issues raised in this claim.

(PCR.12 2423-25)

At the evidentiary hearing Garfield agreed that he did not have the FDLE documents, but noted that several of the pages dealt with Kevin Parker exclusively, others had had nothing to do with Rimmer, and the rest did not supply him with information he did not already know or could use.⁴⁰ (SPCR.5 624, 671-80,

⁴⁰ Garfield noted that the first three pages of the composite dealt exclusively with Kevin Parker and do not provide him with an information he did not already know. Likewise, page four of the composite did not contain anything that Garfield he did not know. It does not apply to the photo line-up of Rimmer. Similarly the next page contained information about the storage facility and Garfield had all of the information he needed about The "lead request" sheet was exclusive to Parker, and of that. no relevance to Garfield. The next four documents were copies of driver's licenses -- Rimmer's, Parker's and the three suspects listed on Bucknor's fingerprint list--Broughton, St. Louis and Gilbert. There was also a photo line-up that was too blurry for Garfield to comment upon. He explained that these documents would not give him any information that he did not have previously. He had no indication that the line-ups were used. Rimmer admitted in his motion that the photo line-up with the additional suspects was not used by the police. The next document, entitled "Case Opening Profile" is a second-hand summary of the case, a re-hash of the probable cause affidavit. It would not have been important to Garfield and no help because

753).⁴¹ With respect to the West Palm Beach investigation documentation of a "chop shop",⁴² Garfield noted that he did have this information in an abbreviated form, and pointed to a onepage report from WMPD which identified Greg Langman and the stolen murder weapon being found in a stolen Corvette in his "chop shop" and that he and Rimmer attended Atlantic Vocational with Rimmer. Garfield explained that even if he had the full West Palm Beach Report he would not have used it because he would not want to tag Rimmer with another crime (stolen weapon and possession of stolen weapon) and would not want to associate

it listed the amount stolen as \$600 when it was actually \$100 so he would not have used it. The next document was a two-page report prepared by Special Agent Bart Ingram (while listed for the evidentiary hearing, Rimmer did not call him as a witness) which Garfield noted did not contain anything with which he was Garfield explained that Ingram cut and pasted not familiar. from Detective Lewis's reports; thus, it was not information that FDLE was imparting to the Wilton Manors Police Department, but rather, information that FDLE had learned from Wilton FDLE did not do any original investigation in the case. Manors. The prosecutor, Pete Magrino, agreed that the FDLE reports were a synopsis of the Wilton Manor reports and that all FDLE did was to facilitate the compiling of a photo line-up; FDLE was not involved in the investigation (SPCR.5 624, 671-82, 753, 778-79).

⁴¹ Rimmer asserts in his motion that FDLE prepared two photo line-ups, one containing the codefendant's photo and the other containing the photos of the other suspects. Thus, these lineups don't even involve Rimmer.

⁴² The report mentions Greg Langman who was one of the main suspects in the West Pam Beach "chop shop" investigation and provides that the murder weapon in this case, the gun used by Rimmer, had been stolen in February, 1998 and was found in a stolen Corvette in this "chop shop." It revealed that Langman went to Atlantic Vocational, which is the school Rimmer was attending. (SPCR.5 685-88).

Rimmer with a ring of thieves in West Palm Beach. The same held true for the Indictment of Langman (SPCR.5 685-88)

Considering the Plantation Police Department reports of the murder at the Meineke Muffler Shop that occurred on April 27, 1998, about one week prior to these murders, Garfield noted he was unaware that Rodney Thomas has already been prosecuted, convicted and sentenced to life for that crime. However, Garfield explained that he would not have used the information in any event as he never wanted to put on evidence like this unless he has something for the jury to link the two crime together because the jury expects you to prove it. It is Garfield's goal to try very tight cases, he does not like to open doors to things and start asking "dumb questions" which forget the big picture and end up making the client look guilty (EH 5/11/05 686-88, 744).

Based on this testimony, Rimmer has failed to show where the trial court erred on the fact or law in rejecting the Brady claim. Where Garfield had the information, Rimmer has failed to prove suppression. Pagan. Likewise, where the information was not relevant to Rimmer's case, materiality has not been shown. Further, Garfield explained in great detail why he would not have used any of these reports. Further, Rimmer cannot prove prejudice. Based on the undisputed eyewitness testimony, there is no doubt that Rimmer participated in this crime and in fact,

was the shooter. Finding evidence of other participants would not lessen his culpability.

ISSUE V

THE CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE FOR NOT RESPONDING PROPERLY TO INSTANCES OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT WAS DENIED PROPERLY (restated)

In Claim VII below and in Issues III and V here, Rimmer argues that counsel was ineffective because he "either failed to object, and/or failed to make the proper objections and/or failed to request curative instructions in response to several instances of prosecutorial misconduct.⁴³ In Issue III he cites to the prosecutorial comments: (1) describing shootings as "vicious and brutal executions;" (2) describing the mental health expert's opinion as "legal mumbo-jumbo;" (3) that prisons are filled with individuals like Rimmer with antisocial personality disorders; (4) telling jury to do its job and return the "morally correct death sentence; (5) reciting victim impact testimony and telling jury that Florida releases prisoners

⁴³ This sort of argument should be found legally insufficient and waived. <u>See</u> <u>Asay v. State</u>, 769 So.2d 974, 989 (Fla. 2000)(finding "one sentence" conclusory allegation that counsel was ineffective is an improper pleading and attempt to relitigate procedurally barred claims); <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) (opining "purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal" - notation to issues without elucidation is insufficient and issue will be deemed waived)

through conditional release program; and (6) in <u>Spencer</u> hearing referring to Rimmer as "worthless piece of fecal matter ... whose death should come prior to natural causes." (IB 68-69 n.36). In <u>Issue V</u>, Rimmer references counsel's response to allegations of prosecutorial misconduct including his failure to object: (7) to the prosecutor's reenactment of the murders including holding the murder weapon, (8) to comparing an officer's eyesight to Rimmer's eyesight, (9) to offering the victims' experienced fear before their deaths, and (10) repeating victim impact testimony. The rejection of this ineffectiveness claim was proper on the facts as well as this Court's findings on direct appeal of either harmless or no fundamental error. <u>See Rimmer</u>, 825 So.2d at 322-25. The denial of relief should be affirmed.⁴⁴

In denying relief, the trial court concluded:

... Defendant argues that his rights were violated because the prosecutor's arguments presented impermissible considerations to the jury, misstated the law and facts, and were inflammatory and improper. The Defendant argues that the misconduct of the prosecutor denied him a fair trial and sentencing proceeding. The actions of the prosecutor, that are the subject of this claim, include calling Officer Kelly in rebuttal and putting on a demonstration to

⁴⁴ The standard of review for claims of ineffectiveness of counsel following an evidentiary hearing is de novo, with deference given the trial court's factual findings. "For ineffective assistance of counsel claims raised in proceedings, appellate postconviction the court affords deference to findings of fact based on competent, substantial evidence, and independently reviews deficiency and prejudice as mixed questions of law and fact." Freeman v. State, 858 So.2d 319, 323 (Fla. 2003).

show that a person with bad eyesight could carry out the crimes; demonstrating the firing of the gun at the victims during the penalty phase closing argument; stating outside the presence of the jury "if the jurors should do something stupid, recommend life;" stating at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing that "this defendant is a worthless piece of fecal matter whose death should come prior to natural causes;" and permitting one victim's father, at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, to ask the judge "to follow the recommendation and sentence him to the electric chair."

In its response, the State argued that prosecutorial misconduct during the trial is procedurally barred and without merit. This Court agrees with, and adopts the arguments raised by the State, as to this claim. The inappropriateness of Officer Kelly's rebuttal testimony was raised and rejected on direct appeal and ruled to be harmless error. Rimmer, 825 So.2d at 321-Since the matter was raised and ruled upon in the 22. direct appeal it is now barred from consideration in a postconviction proceeding. See Finney v. State, 831 So.2d 651 (Fla. 2002).

This Court agrees with the State's argument that the prosecutor's comments regarding the mental and emotional demonstration with the gun, which was in evidence, are matters that could have been raised on appeal. Further, the comments and demonstration were relevant to the issues being considered.

The prosecutor's comments made outside the presence of the jury were matters raised on direct appeal and are thus barred in this proceeding. Rimmer, 825 So.2d at Additionally, the comments were not heard by the 325. jury and there is nothing in the record to indicate that eth comments influenced the court in reaching its decision. The comments made at the Spencer hearing, by the father of one of the victims, is also procedurally barred as it could have been raised on direct appeal and there is no reason to believe the particular comment influenced the sentence.

The Court argues with the State's argument, that there is no reasonable likelihood that the results that results of the penalty phase would have been different, absent the complained of conduct. (PCR.12 2412-22).

Each of the underlying errors was raised and rejected on direct appeal. Claims of trial court error couched in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel will be found procedurally barred. <u>State v. Riechmann</u>, 777 So.2d 342, 353 n.14 (Fla. 2000) (finding claims procedurally barred because defendant was couching them in terms of ineffectiveness when they had been raised and rejected on direct appeal); <u>Medina v. State</u>, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) (holding "[a]llegations of ineffective assistance cannot be used to circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal").

Moreover, on direct appeal this Court reasoned that the objected to comments were harmless, and those where an objection was not raised, where either not error or no fundamental error was shown. <u>Rimmer</u>, 825 So.2d at 322-25. As such, Rimmer is unable to show <u>Strickland</u> prejudice arising from counsel's actions or inactions. Rimmer is not entitled to relief on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel where there has been an earlier appellate court finding that an unpreserved error did not rise to the level of fundamental error. <u>See White v. State</u>, 559 So.2d 1097, 1099-1100 (Fla. 1990) (rejecting ineffective assistance of counsel's failure to preserve issues for appeal in postconviction appeal based upon

earlier finding by court on direct appeal that unpreserved alleged errors would not constitute fundamental error); <u>Teffeteller v. Dugger</u>, 734 So.2d 1009, 1019 (Fla. 1988) (finding defendant had failed to meet prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u> on issue that counsel failed to adequately argue case below given it was rejected without discussion); <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 659 So.2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995). Rimmer is not entitled to relief.

ISSUE VI

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